

New Zealand Equivalent to International Financial Reporting Standard 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts (NZ IFRS 14)

Issued March 2014 and incorporates amendments to 31 December 2015

This Standard was issued by the New Zealand Accounting Standards Board of the External Reporting Board pursuant to section 24(1)(a) of the Financial Reporting Act 1993.

This Standard is a disallowable instrument for the purpose of the Legislation Act 2012.

COPYRIGHT

© External Reporting Board ("XRB") 2014

This XRB standard contains International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") Foundation copyright material. Reproduction within New Zealand in unaltered form (retaining this notice) is permitted for personal and non-commercial use subject to the inclusion of an acknowledgement of the source.

Requests and enquiries concerning reproduction and rights for commercial purposes within New Zealand should be addressed to the Chief Executive, External Reporting Board at the following email address: enquiries@xrb.govt.nz

All existing rights (including copyrights) in this material outside of New Zealand are reserved by the IFRS Foundation. Reproduction of XRB standards outside of New Zealand in unaltered form (retaining this notice) is permitted for personal and non-commercial use only. Further information and requests for authorisation to reproduce for commercial purposes outside New Zealand should be addressed to the IFRS Foundation.

ISBN 978-1-927292-09-9

from paragraph

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	IN1
NEW ZEALAND EQUIVALENT TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARD 14	
REGULATORY DEFERRAL ACCOUNTS	
OBJECTIVE	1
SCOPE	NZ 5.1
RECOGNITION, MEASUREMENT, IMPAIRMENT AND DERECOGNITION	9
Temporary exemption from paragraph 11 of NZ IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors	9
Continuation of existing accounting policies	11
Changes in accounting policies	13
Interaction with other Standards	16
PRESENTATION	18
Changes in presentation	18
Classification of regulatory deferral account balances	20
Classification of movements in regulatory deferral account balances	22
DISCLOSURE	27
Objective	27
Explanation of activities subject to rate regulation	30
Explanation of recognised amounts	32
APPENDICES	
A Defined terms	
B Application Guidance	
C Effective date and transition	
D Amendments to other NZ IFRSs	
HISTORY OF AMENDMENTS	

The following is available within New Zealand on the XRB website as additional material

APPROVAL BY THE IASB OF IFRS 14 REGULATORY DEFERRAL ACCOUNTS ISSUED IN JANUARY 2014

IASB BASIS FOR CONCLUSIONS ON IFRS 14 REGULATORY DEFERRAL ACCOUNTS

IASB DISSENTING OPINIONS

IASB ILLUSTRATIVE EXAMPLES

New Zealand Equivalent to International Financial Reporting Standard 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts (NZ IFRS 14) is set out in paragraphs 1–36 and Appendices A–D. NZ IFRS 14 is based on International Financial Reporting Standard 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts (IFRS 14) published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). All the paragraphs have equal authority. Paragraphs in **bold type** state the main principles. Terms defined in Appendix A are in italics the first time that they appear in the Standard. Definitions of other terms are given in the Glossary for International Financial Reporting Standards. The Standard should be read in the context of its objective and the IASB's Basis for Conclusions on IFRS 14 and the New Zealand Equivalent to the IASB Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (NZ Framework). NZ IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors provides a basis for selecting and applying accounting policies in the absence of explicit guidance.

Introduction

- IN1 NZ IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts ('this Standard'), is based on IFRS 14. NZ IFRS 14, describes regulatory deferral account balances as amounts of expense or income that would not be recognised as assets or liabilities in accordance with other Standards, but that qualify to be deferred in accordance with this Standard because the amount is included, or is expected to be included, by the rate regulator in establishing the price(s) that an entity can charge to customers for rate-regulated goods or services.
- IN2 This Standard permits a first-time adopter within its scope to continue to account for regulatory deferral account balances in its first NZ IFRS financial statements in accordance with its previous GAAP when it adopts NZ IFRS. However, NZ IFRS 14 introduces limited changes to some previous GAAP accounting practices for regulatory deferral account balances, which are primarily related to the presentation of these accounts.
- IN3 The scope of this Standard is limited to first-time adopters that recognised regulatory deferral account balances in their financial statements in accordance with their previous GAAP, as defined in NZ IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (ie the basis of accounting that a first-time adopter used immediately before adopting NZ IFRS). An entity that is within the scope of, and that elects to apply, this Standard in its first NZ IFRS financial statements continues to apply it in the entity's subsequent financial statements.
- IN4 This Standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. Earlier application is permitted.

Reasons for publishing this Standard

- IN5 The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has developed IFRS 14 for regulatory deferral accounts because:
 - (a) the requirements of some national accounting standard-setting bodies permit or require entities that are subject to rate regulation to capitalise and defer expenditures that non-rate-regulated entities would recognise as expenses. Similarly, these rate-regulated entities are permitted or required to defer income that non-rate-regulated entities would recognise in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The resulting regulatory deferral account balances are presented in a variety of ways. They are often described as 'regulatory assets' and 'regulatory liabilities' but are sometimes incorporated within other line items in the financial statements, such as property, plant and equipment;
 - (b) there is currently no Standard in IFRS that specifically addresses the accounting for rate-regulated activities. Consequently, an entity is required to determine its accounting policy for the financial effects of rate regulation in accordance with paragraphs 10–12 of IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. The IASB has not seen evidence of significant diversity in practice within jurisdictions that are applying IFRS because almost all entities have eliminated regulatory deferral account balances when making the transition to IFRS and thus do not recognise them in IFRS financial statements. However, despite this consistency of treatment within IFRS financial statements, there are different views within jurisdictions that have not yet adopted IFRS, and also within some others that have adopted IFRS, on how the effects of rate regulation should be accounted for. This has resulted in several requests to the IASB for guidance, which have asked whether regulatory deferral account balances might meet the definitions of assets and liabilities in the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (the Conceptual Framework), depending on the terms of the rate regulation;
 - (c) the lack of specific guidance in IFRS has resulted in various jurisdictions that have not yet fully adopted IFRS taking different approaches to reporting the effects of rate regulation, which could reduce comparability and transparency for users of financial statements; and
 - (d) income and expenses that are subject to rate regulation are significant to entities that are engaged in rate-regulated activities, such as those in the utilities, telecommunications and transport industries.

NZ IFRS 14

Consequently, the lack of guidance could be a significant barrier to the adoption of IFRS for those entities.

- IN6 In September 2012, the IASB started a comprehensive Rate-regulated Activities project, starting with a research phase to develop a Discussion Paper.
- In December 2012, the IASB decided to add an additional phase to the Rate-regulated Activities project to develop a limited-scope Standard to provide a short-term, interim solution for rate-regulated entities that had not yet adopted IFRS. This Standard is intended to allow entities that are first-time adopters of IFRS, and that currently recognise regulatory deferral accounts in accordance with their previous GAAP, to continue to do so on transition to IFRS. This will allow those entities to avoid making major changes in accounting policy for regulatory deferral accounts on transition to IFRS until the comprehensive project is completed.
- IN8 However, by publishing IFRS 14, the IASB is not anticipating the outcome of the comprehensive Rate-regulated Activities project. The term 'regulatory deferral account balances' has been chosen as a neutral descriptor for the items that arise from rate regulation and that are within the scope of this Standard. In this Standard, such balances are not described as 'regulatory assets' or 'regulatory liabilities' because of differing views as to whether they meet the definitions of assets or liabilities in the *Conceptual Framework*. Consequently, the IASB's objectives for this Standard are to:
 - enhance the comparability of financial reporting by reducing barriers to the adoption of IFRS by entities with rate-regulated activities until guidance is developed through the IASB's comprehensive Rate-regulated Activities project; and
 - (b) ensure that users of financial statements will be able to clearly identify the amounts of regulatory deferral account balances, and movements in those balances, in order to be able to compare the financial statements of entities that recognise such balances in accordance with this Standard against the financial statements of entities that do not recognise such balances.

Main features of this Standard

IN9 This Standard:

- (a) permits an entity that adopts NZ IFRS to continue to use, in its first and subsequent NZ IFRS financial statements, its previous GAAP accounting policies for the recognition, measurement, impairment and derecognition of regulatory deferral account balances without specifically considering the requirements of paragraph 11 of NZ IAS 8;
- (b) requires entities to present regulatory deferral account balances as separate line items in the statement of financial position and to present movements in those account balances as separate line items in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income; and
- (c) requires specific disclosures to identify the nature of, and risks associated with, the rate regulation that has resulted in the recognition of regulatory deferral account balances in accordance with this Standard.

Compliance with IFRS 14

IN11 Tier 1 for-profit entities that comply with NZ IFRS 14 will simultaneously be in compliance with IFRS 14.

Reduced Disclosure Regime

IN12 Tier 2 for-profit entities must comply with all the provisions of NZ IFRS 14.

New Zealand Equivalent to International Financial Reporting Standard 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

Objective

- The objective of this Standard is to specify the financial reporting requirements for *regulatory deferral account balances* that arise when an entity provides goods or services to customers at a price or rate that is subject to *rate regulation*.
- 2 In meeting this objective, the Standard requires:
 - (a) limited changes to the accounting policies that were applied in accordance with previous generally accepted accounting principles (*previous GAAP*) for regulatory deferral account balances, which are primarily related to the presentation of these accounts; and
 - (b) disclosures that:
 - (i) identify and explain the amounts recognised in the entity's financial statements that arise from rate regulation; and
 - (ii) help users of the financial statements to understand the amount, timing and uncertainty of future cash flows from any regulatory deferral account balances that are recognised.
- The requirements of this Standard permit an entity within its scope to continue to account for regulatory deferral account balances in its financial statements in accordance with its previous GAAP when it adopts NZ IFRS, subject to the limited changes referred to in paragraph 2 above.
- In addition, this Standard provides some exceptions to, or exemptions from, the requirements of other Standards. All specified requirements for reporting regulatory deferral account balances, and any exceptions to, or exemptions from, the requirements of other Standards that are related to those balances, are contained within this Standard instead of within those other Standards.

Scope

- NZ 5.1 This Standard applies to Tier 1 and Tier 2 for-profit entities.
- An entity is permitted to apply the requirements of this Standard in its *first NZ IFRS financial* statements if and only if it:
 - (a) conducts rate-regulated activities; and
 - (b) recognised amounts that qualify as regulatory deferral account balances in its financial statements in accordance with its previous GAAP.
- An entity shall apply the requirements of this Standard in its financial statements for subsequent periods if and only if, in its first NZ IFRS financial statements, it recognised regulatory deferral account balances by electing to apply the requirements of this Standard.
- This Standard does not address other aspects of accounting by entities that are engaged in rate-regulated activities. By applying the requirements in this Standard, any amounts that are permitted or required to be recognised as assets or liabilities in accordance with other Standards shall not be included within the amounts classified as regulatory deferral account balances.
- An entity that is within the scope of, and that elects to apply, this Standard shall apply all of its requirements to all regulatory deferral account balances that arise from all of the entity's rate-regulated activities.

Recognition, measurement, impairment and derecognition

Temporary exemption from paragraph 11 of NZ IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors

- 9 An entity that has rate-regulated activities and that is within the scope of, and elects to apply, this Standard shall apply paragraphs 10 and 12 of NZ IAS 8 when developing its accounting policies for the recognition, measurement, impairment and derecognition of regulatory deferral account balances.
- Paragraphs 11–12 of NZ IAS 8 specify sources of requirements and guidance that management is required or permitted to consider in developing an accounting policy for an item, if no relevant Standard applies specifically to that item. This Standard exempts an entity from applying paragraph 11 of NZ IAS 8 to its accounting policies for the recognition, measurement, impairment and derecognition of regulatory deferral account balances. Consequently, entities that recognise regulatory deferral account balances, either as separate items or as part of the carrying value of other assets and liabilities, in accordance with their previous GAAP, are permitted to continue to recognise those balances in accordance with this Standard through the exemption from paragraph 11 of NZ IAS 8, subject to any presentation changes required by paragraphs 18–19 of this Standard.

Continuation of existing accounting policies

- On initial application of this Standard, an entity shall continue to apply its previous GAAP accounting policies for the recognition, measurement, impairment and derecognition of regulatory deferral account balances, except for any changes permitted by paragraphs 13–15. However, the presentation of such amounts shall comply with the presentation requirements of this Standard, which may require changes to the entity's previous GAAP presentation policies (see paragraphs 18-19).
- An entity shall apply the policies established in accordance with paragraph 11 consistently in subsequent periods, except for any changes permitted by paragraphs 13–15.

Changes in accounting policies

- An entity shall not change its accounting policies in order to start to recognise regulatory deferral account balances. An entity may only change its accounting policies for the recognition, measurement, impairment and derecognition of regulatory deferral account balances if the change makes the financial statements more relevant to the economic decision-making needs of users and no less reliable 1, or more reliable and no less relevant to those needs. An entity shall judge relevance and reliability using the criteria in paragraph 10 of NZ IAS 8.
- This Standard does not exempt entities from applying paragraphs 10 or 14–15 of NZ IAS 8 to changes in accounting policy. To justify changing its accounting policies for regulatory deferral account balances, an entity shall demonstrate that the change brings its financial statements closer to meeting the criteria in paragraph 10 of NZ IAS 8. However, the change does not need to achieve full compliance with those criteria for the recognition, measurement, impairment and derecognition of regulatory deferral account balances.
- Paragraphs 13–14 apply both to changes made on initial application of this Standard and to changes made in subsequent reporting periods.

8

In September 2010, the IASB replaced the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements with the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting. The term "faithful representation" encompasses the main characteristics that the previous Framework called "reliability". The requirement in paragraph 13 of this Standard is based on the requirements of NZ IAS 8, which retains the term "reliable".

Interaction with other Standards

- Any specific exception, exemption or additional requirements related to the interaction of this Standard with other Standards are contained within this Standard (see paragraphs B7–B28). In the absence of any such exception, exemption or additional requirements, other Standards shall apply to regulatory deferral account balances in the same way as they apply to assets, liabilities, income and expenses that are recognised in accordance with other Standards.
- In some situations, another Standard might need to be applied to a regulatory deferral account balance that has been measured in accordance with an entity's accounting policies that are established in accordance with paragraphs 11–12 in order to reflect that balance appropriately in the financial statements. For example, the entity might have rate-regulated activities in a foreign country for which the transactions and regulatory deferral account balances are denominated in a currency that is not the functional currency of the reporting entity. The regulatory deferral account balances and the movements in those balances are translated by applying NZ IAS 21 *The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates*.

Presentation

Changes in presentation

- This Standard introduces presentation requirements, outlined in paragraphs 20–26, for regulatory deferral account balances that are recognised in accordance with paragraphs 11–12. When this Standard is applied, the regulatory deferral account balances are recognised in the statement of financial position in addition to the assets and liabilities that are recognised in accordance with other Standards. These presentation requirements separate the impact of recognising regulatory deferral account balances from the financial reporting requirements of other Standards.
- In addition to the items that are required to be presented in the statement of financial position and in the statement(s) of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in accordance with NZ IAS 1 *Presentation of Financial Statements*, an entity applying this Standard shall present all regulatory deferral account balances and the movements in those balances in accordance with paragraphs 20–26.

Classification of regulatory deferral account balances

- 20 An entity shall present separate line items in the statement of financial position for:
 - (a) the total of all regulatory deferral account debit balances; and
 - (b) the total of all regulatory deferral account credit balances.
- When an entity presents current and non-current assets, and current and non-current liabilities, as separate classifications in its statement of financial position, it shall not classify the totals of regulatory deferral account balances as current or non-current. Instead, the separate line items required by paragraph 20 shall be distinguished from the assets and liabilities that are presented in accordance with other Standards by the use of sub-totals, which are drawn before the regulatory deferral account balances are presented.

Classification of movements in regulatory deferral account balances

- An entity shall present, in the other comprehensive income section of the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the net movement in all regulatory deferral account balances for the reporting period that relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income. Separate line items shall be used for the net movement related to items that, in accordance with other Standards:
 - (a) will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and

- (b) will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions are met.
- An entity shall present a separate line item in the profit or loss section of the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, or in the separate statement of profit or loss, for the remaining net movement in all regulatory deferral account balances for the reporting period, excluding movements that are not reflected in profit or loss, such as amounts acquired. This separate line item shall be distinguished from the income and expenses that are presented in accordance with other Standards by the use of a sub-total, which is drawn before the net movement in regulatory deferral account balances.
- When an entity recognises a deferred tax asset or a deferred tax liability as a result of recognising regulatory deferral account balances, the entity shall present the resulting deferred tax asset (liability) and the related movement in that deferred tax asset (liability) with the related regulatory deferral account balances and movements in those balances, instead of within the total presented in accordance with NZ IAS 12 *Income Taxes* for deferred tax assets (liabilities) and the tax expense (income) (see paragraphs B9–B12).
- When an entity presents a discontinued operation or a disposal group in accordance with NZ IFRS 5 Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, the entity shall present any related regulatory deferral account balances and the net movement in those balances, as applicable, with the regulatory deferral account balances and movements in those balances, instead of within the disposal groups or discontinued operations (see paragraphs B19–B22).
- When an entity presents earnings per share in accordance with NZ IAS 33 *Earnings per Share*, the entity shall present additional basic and diluted earnings per share, which are calculated using the earnings amounts required by NZ IAS 33 but excluding the movements in regulatory deferral account balances (see paragraphs B13–B14).

Disclosure

Objective

- 27 An entity that elects to apply this Standard shall disclose information that enables users to assess:
 - (a) the nature of, and the risks associated with, the rate regulation that establishes the price(s) that the entity can charge customers for the goods or services it provides; and
 - (b) the effects of that rate regulation on its financial position, financial performance and cash flows.
- If any of the disclosures set out in paragraphs 30–36 are not considered relevant to meet the objective in paragraph 27, they may be omitted from the financial statements. If the disclosures provided in accordance with paragraphs 30–36 are insufficient to meet the objective in paragraph 27, an entity shall disclose additional information that is necessary to meet that objective.
- 29 To meet the disclosure objective in paragraph 27, an entity shall consider all of the following:
 - (a) the level of detail that is necessary to satisfy the disclosure requirements;
 - (b) how much emphasis to place on each of the various requirements;
 - (c) how much aggregation or disaggregation to undertake; and
 - (d) whether users of financial statements need additional information to evaluate the quantitative information disclosed.

Explanation of activities subject to rate regulation

- To help a user of the financial statements assess the nature of, and the risks associated with, the entity's rate-regulated activities, an entity shall, for each type of rate-regulated activity, disclose:
 - (a) a brief description of the nature and extent of the rate-regulated activity and the nature of the regulatory rate-setting process;
 - (b) the identity of the rate regulator(s). If the rate regulator is a related party (as defined in NZ IAS 24 *Related Party Disclosures*), the entity shall disclose that fact, together with an explanation of how it is related;
 - (c) how the future recovery of each class (ie each type of cost or income) of regulatory deferral account debit balance or reversal of each class of regulatory deferral account credit balance is affected by risks and uncertainty, for example:
 - (i) demand risk (for example, changes in consumer attitudes, the availability of alternative sources of supply or the level of competition);
 - (ii) regulatory risk (for example, the submission or approval of a rate-setting application or the entity's assessment of the expected future regulatory actions); and
 - (iii) other risks (for example, currency or other market risks).
- The disclosures required by paragraph 30 shall be given in the financial statements either directly in the notes or incorporated by cross-reference from the financial statements to some other statement, such as a management commentary or risk report, that is available to users of the financial statements on the same terms as the financial statements and at the same time. If the information is not included in the financial statements directly or incorporated by cross-reference, the financial statements are incomplete.

Explanation of recognised amounts

- An entity shall disclose the basis on which regulatory deferral account balances are recognised and derecognised, and how they are measured initially and subsequently, including how regulatory deferral account balances are assessed for recoverability and how any impairment loss is allocated.
- For each type of rate-regulated activity, an entity shall disclose the following information for each class of regulatory deferral account balance:
 - (a) a reconciliation of the carrying amount at the beginning and the end of the period, in a table unless another format is more appropriate. The entity shall apply judgement in deciding the level of detail necessary (see paragraphs 28–29), but the following components would usually be relevant:
 - (i) the amounts that have been recognised in the current period in the statement of financial position as regulatory deferral account balances;
 - (ii) the amounts that have been recognised in the statement(s) of profit or loss and other comprehensive income relating to balances that have been recovered (sometimes described as amortised) or reversed in the current period; and
 - (iii) other amounts, separately identified, that affected the regulatory deferral account balances, such as impairments, items acquired or assumed in a business combination, items disposed of, or the effects of changes in foreign exchange rates or discount rates;
 - (b) the rate of return or discount rate (including a zero rate or a range of rates, when applicable) used to reflect the time value of money that is applicable to each class of regulatory deferral account balance; and
 - (c) the remaining periods over which the entity expects to recover (or amortise) the carrying amount of each class of regulatory deferral account debit balance or to reverse each class of regulatory deferral account credit balance.

NZ IFRS 14

- When rate regulation affects the amount and timing of an entity's income tax expense (income), the entity shall disclose the impact of the rate regulation on the amounts of current and deferred tax recognised. In addition, the entity shall separately disclose any regulatory deferral account balance that relates to taxation and the related movement in that balance.
- When an entity provides disclosures in accordance with NZ IFRS 12 *Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities* for an interest in a subsidiary, associate or joint venture that has rate-regulated activities and for which regulatory deferral account balances are recognised in accordance with this Standard, the entity shall disclose the amounts that are included for the regulatory deferral account debit and credit balances and the net movement in those balances for the interests disclosed (see paragraphs B25–B28).
- When an entity concludes that a regulatory deferral account balance is no longer fully recoverable or reversible, it shall disclose that fact, the reason why it is not recoverable or reversible and the amount by which the regulatory deferral account balance has been reduced.

Appendix A Defined terms

This appendix is an integral part of the Standard.

first NZ IFRS financial

statements

The first annual financial statements in which an entity adopts New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS), by an explicit

and unreserved statement of compliance with NZ IFRS.

first-time adopter An entity that presents its **first NZ IFRS financial statements**.

previous GAAP The basis of accounting that a **first-time adopter** used immediately before adopting

NZ IFRS.

rate-regulated activities An entity's activities that are subject to rate regulation.

rate regulation A framework for establishing the prices that can be charged to customers for goods or

services and that framework is subject to oversight and/or approval by a rate

regulator.

rate regulator

An authorised body that is empowered by statute or regulation to establish the rate or a

range of rates that bind an entity. The **rate regulator** may be a third-party body or a related party of the entity, including the entity's own governing board, if that body is required by statute or regulation to set rates both in the interest of the customers and to

ensure the overall financial viability of the entity.

regulatory deferral account balance

The balance of any expense (or income) account that would not be recognised as an asset or a liability in accordance with other Standards, but that qualifies for deferral

because it is included, or is expected to be included, by the rate regulator in

establishing the rate(s) that can be charged to customers.

Appendix B Application Guidance

This appendix is an integral part of the Standard.

Rate-regulated activities

- Historically, rate regulation applied to all activities of an entity. However, with acquisitions, diversification and deregulation, rate regulation may now apply to only a portion of an entity's activities, resulting in it having both regulated and non-regulated activities. This Standard applies only to the rate-regulated activities that are subject to statutory or regulatory restrictions through the actions of a rate regulator, regardless of the type of entity or the industry to which it belongs.
- An entity shall not apply this Standard to activities that are self-regulated, ie activities that are not subject to a pricing framework that is overseen and/or approved by a rate regulator. This does not prevent the entity from being eligible to apply this Standard when:
 - (a) the entity's own governing body or a related party establishes rates both in the interest of the customers and to ensure the overall financial viability of the entity within a specified pricing framework; and
 - (b) the framework is subject to oversight and/or approval by an authorised body that is empowered by statute or regulation.

Continuation of existing accounting policies

- B3 For the purposes of this Standard, a regulatory deferral account balance is defined as the balance of any expense (or income) account that would not be recognised as an asset or a liability in accordance with other Standards, but that qualifies for deferral because it is included, or is expected to be included, by the rate regulator in establishing the rate(s) that can be charged to customers. Some items of expense (income) may be outside the regulated rate(s) because, for example, the amounts are not expected to be accepted by the rate regulator or because they are not within the scope of the rate regulation. Consequently, such an item is recognised as income or expense as incurred, unless another Standard permits or requires it to be included in the carrying amount of an asset or liability.
- In some cases, other Standards explicitly prohibit an entity from recognising, in the statement of financial position, regulatory deferral account balances that might be recognised, either separately or included within other line items such as property, plant and equipment in accordance with previous GAAP accounting policies. However, in accordance with paragraph 11 of this Standard, an entity that elects to apply this Standard in its first NZ IFRS financial statements applies the exemption from paragraph 11 of NZ IAS 8 in order to continue to apply its previous GAAP accounting policies for the recognition, measurement, impairment, and derecognition of regulatory deferral account balances. Such accounting policies may include, for example, the following practices:
 - (a) recognising a regulatory deferral account debit balance when the entity has the right, as a result of the actual or expected actions of the rate regulator, to increase rates in future periods in order to recover its allowable costs (ie the costs for which the regulated rate(s) is intended to provide recovery);
 - (b) recognising, as a regulatory deferral account debit or credit balance, an amount that is equivalent to any loss or gain on the disposal or retirement of both items of property, plant and equipment and of intangible assets, which is expected to be recovered or reversed through future rates;
 - (c) recognising a regulatory deferral account credit balance when the entity is required, as a result of the actual or expected actions of the rate regulator, to decrease rates in future periods in order to reverse over-recoveries of allowable costs (ie amounts in excess of the recoverable amount specified by the rate regulator); and

- (d) measuring regulatory deferral account balances on an undiscounted basis or on a discounted basis that uses an interest or discount rate specified by the rate regulator.
- B5 The following are examples of the types of costs that rate regulators might allow in rate-setting decisions and that an entity might, therefore, recognise in regulatory deferral account balances:
 - (i) volume or purchase price variances;
 - (ii) costs of approved 'green energy' initiatives (in excess of amounts that are capitalised as part of the cost of property, plant and equipment in accordance with NZ IAS 16 *Property, Plant and Equipment*);
 - (iii) non-directly-attributable overhead costs that are treated as capital costs for rate regulation purposes (but are not permitted, in accordance with NZ IAS 16, to be included in the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment);
 - (iv) project cancellation costs;
 - (v) storm damage costs; and
 - (vi) deemed interest (including amounts allowed for funds that are used during construction that provide the entity with a return on the owner's equity capital as well as borrowings).
- Regulatory deferral account balances usually represent timing differences between the recognition of items of income or expenses for regulatory purposes and the recognition of those items for financial reporting purposes. When an entity changes an accounting policy on the first-time adoption of NZ IFRS or on the initial application of a new or revised Standard, new or revised timing differences may arise that create new or revised regulatory deferral account balances. The prohibition in paragraph 13 that prevents an entity from changing its accounting policy in order to start to recognise regulatory deferral account balances does not prohibit the recognition of the new or revised regulatory deferral account balances that are created because of other changes in accounting policies required by NZ IFRS. This is because the recognition of regulatory deferral account balances for such timing differences would be consistent with the existing recognition policy applied in accordance with paragraph 11 and would not represent the introduction of a new accounting policy. Similarly, paragraph 13 does not prohibit the recognition of regulatory deferral account balances arising from timing differences that did not exist immediately prior to the date of transition to NZ IFRS but are consistent with the entity's accounting policies established in accordance with paragraph 11 (for example, storm damage costs).

Applicability of other Standards

B7 An entity that is within the scope of, and that elects to apply, the requirements of this Standard shall continue to apply its previous GAAP accounting policies for the recognition, measurement, impairment and derecognition of regulatory deferral account balances. However, paragraphs 16–17 state that, in some situations, other Standards might also need to be applied to regulatory deferral account balances in order to reflect them appropriately in the financial statements. The following paragraphs outline how some other Standards interact with the requirements of this Standard. In particular, the following paragraphs clarify specific exceptions to, and exemptions from, other Standards and additional presentation and disclosure requirements that are expected to be applicable.

Application of NZ IAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period

An entity may need to use estimates and assumptions in the recognition and measurement of its regulatory deferral account balances. For events that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue, the entity shall apply NZ IAS 10 to identify whether those estimates and assumptions should be adjusted to reflect those events.

Application of NZ IAS 12 Income Taxes

- B9 NZ IAS 12 requires, with certain limited exceptions, an entity to recognise a deferred tax liability and (subject to certain conditions) a deferred tax asset for all temporary differences. A rate-regulated entity shall apply NZ IAS 12 to all of its activities, including its rate-regulated activities, to identify the amount of income tax that is to be recognised.
- B10 In some rate-regulatory schemes, the rate regulator permits or requires an entity to increase its future rates in order to recover some or all of the entity's income tax expense. In such circumstances, this might result in the entity recognising a regulatory deferral account balance in the statement of financial position related to income tax, in accordance with its accounting policies established in accordance with paragraphs 11–12. The recognition of this regulatory deferral account balance that relates to income tax might itself create an additional temporary difference for which a further deferred tax amount would be recognised.
- B11 Notwithstanding the presentation and disclosure requirements of NZ IAS 12, when an entity recognises a deferred tax asset or a deferred tax liability as a result of recognising regulatory deferral account balances, the entity shall not include that deferred tax amount within the total deferred tax asset (liability) balances. Instead, the entity shall present the deferred tax asset (liability) that arises as a result of recognising regulatory deferral account balances either:
 - (a) with the line items that are presented for the regulatory deferral account debit balances and credit balances; or
 - (b) as a separate line item alongside the related regulatory deferral account debit balances and credit balances.
- B12 Similarly, when an entity recognises the movement in a deferred tax asset (liability) that arises as a result of recognising regulatory deferral account balances, the entity shall not include the movement in that deferred tax amount within the tax expense (income) line item that is presented in the statement(s) of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in accordance with NZ IAS 12. Instead, the entity shall present the movement in the deferred tax asset (liability) that arises as a result of recognising regulatory deferral account balances either:
 - (a) with the line items that are presented in the statement(s) of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the movements in regulatory deferral account balances; or
 - (b) as a separate line item alongside the related line items that are presented in the statement(s) of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the movements in regulatory deferral account balances.

Application of NZ IAS 33 Earnings per Share

- Paragraph 66 of NZ IAS 33 requires some entities to present, in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, basic and diluted earnings per share both for profit or loss from continuing operations and profit or loss that is attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the parent entity. In addition, paragraph 68 of NZ IAS 33 requires an entity that reports a discontinued operation to disclose the basic and diluted amounts per share for the discontinued operation, either in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income or in the notes.
- B14 For each earnings per share amount presented in accordance with NZ IAS 33, an entity applying this Standard shall present additional basic and diluted earnings per share amounts that are calculated in the same way, except that those amounts shall exclude the net movement in the regulatory deferral account balances. Consistent with the requirement in paragraph 73 of NZ IAS 33, an entity shall present the earnings per share required by paragraph 26 of this Standard with equal prominence to the earnings per share required by NZ IAS 33 for all periods presented.

Application of NZ IAS 36 Impairment of Assets

Paragraphs 11–12 require an entity to continue to apply its previous GAAP accounting policies for the identification, recognition, measurement and reversal of any impairment of its recognised regulatory deferral account balances. Consequently, NZ IAS 36 does not apply to the separate regulatory deferral account balances recognised.

However, NZ IAS 36 might require an entity to perform an impairment test on a cash-generating unit (CGU) that includes regulatory deferral account balances. This test might be required because the CGU contains goodwill, or because one or more of the impairment indicators described in NZ IAS 36 have been identified relating to the CGU. In such situations, paragraphs 74–79 of NZ IAS 36 contain requirements for identifying the recoverable amount and the carrying amount of a CGU. An entity shall apply those requirements to decide whether any of the regulatory deferral account balances recognised are included in the carrying amount of the CGU for the purpose of the impairment test. The remaining requirements of NZ IAS 36 shall then be applied to any impairment loss that is recognised as a result of this test.

Application of NZ IFRS 3 Business Combinations

- B17 The core principle of NZ IFRS 3 is that an acquirer of a business recognises the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at their acquisition-date fair values. NZ IFRS 3 provides limited exceptions to its recognition and measurement principles. Paragraph B18 of this Standard provides an additional exception.
- Paragraphs 11–12 require an entity to continue to apply its previous GAAP accounting policies for the recognition, measurement, impairment and derecognition of regulatory deferral account balances. Consequently, if an entity acquires a business, it shall apply, in its consolidated financial statements, its accounting policies established in accordance with paragraphs 11–12 for the recognition and measurement of the acquiree's regulatory deferral account balances at the date of acquisition. The acquiree's regulatory deferral account balances shall be recognised in the consolidated financial statements of the acquirer in accordance with the acquirer's policies, irrespective of whether the acquiree recognises those balances in its own financial statements.

Application of NZ IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

- Paragraphs 11–12 require an entity to continue to apply its previous accounting policies for the recognition, measurement, impairment and derecognition of regulatory deferral account balances. Consequently, the measurement requirements of NZ IFRS 5 shall not apply to the regulatory deferral account balances recognised.
- B20 Paragraph 33 of NZ IFRS 5 requires a single amount to be presented for discontinued operations in the statement(s) of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Notwithstanding the requirements of that paragraph, when an entity that elects to apply this Standard presents a discontinued operation, it shall not include the movement in regulatory deferral account balances that arose from the rate-regulated activities of the discontinued operation within the line items that are required by paragraph 33 of NZ IFRS 5. Instead, the entity shall present the movement in regulatory deferral account balances that arose from the rate-regulated activities of the discontinued operation either:
 - (a) within the line item that is presented for movements in the regulatory deferral account balances related to profit or loss; or
 - (b) as a separate line item alongside the related line item that is presented for movements in the regulatory deferral account balances related to profit or loss.
- B21 Similarly, notwithstanding the requirements of paragraph 38 of NZ IFRS 5, when an entity presents a disposal group, the entity shall not include the total of the regulatory deferral account debit balances and credit balances that are part of the disposal group within the line items that are required by paragraph 38 of NZ IFRS 5. Instead, the entity shall present the total of the regulatory deferral account debit balances and credit balances that are part of the disposal group either:
 - (a) within the line items that are presented for the regulatory deferral account debit balances and credit balances; or
 - (b) as separate line items alongside the other regulatory deferral account debit balances and credit balances.
- B22 If the entity chooses to include the regulatory deferral account balances and movements in those balances that are related to the disposal group or discontinued operation within the related regulated deferral account

line items, it may be necessary to disclose them separately as part of the analysis of the regulatory deferral account line items described by paragraph 33 of this Standard.

Application of NZ IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and NZ IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

- Paragraph 19 of NZ IFRS 10 requires that a "parent shall prepare consolidated financial statements using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other events in similar circumstances". Paragraph 8 of this Standard requires that an entity that is within the scope of, and elects to apply, this Standard shall apply all of its requirements to all regulatory deferral account balances arising from all of the entity's rate-regulated activities. Consequently, if a parent recognises regulatory deferral account balances in its consolidated financial statements in accordance with this Standard, it shall apply the same accounting policies to the regulatory deferral account balances arising in all of its subsidiaries. This shall apply irrespective of whether the subsidiaries recognise those balances in their own financial statements.
- B24 Similarly, paragraphs 35–36 of NZ IAS 28 require that, in applying the equity method, an "entity's financial statements shall be prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and events in similar circumstances". Consequently, adjustments shall be made to make the associate's or joint venture's accounting policies for the recognition, measurement, impairment and derecognition of regulatory deferral account balances conform to those of the investing entity in applying the equity method.

Application of NZ IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

- Paragraph 12(e) of NZ IFRS 12 requires an entity to disclose, for each of its subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests that are material to the reporting entity, the profit or loss that was allocated to non-controlling interests of the subsidiary during the reporting period. An entity that recognises regulatory deferral account balances in accordance with this Standard shall disclose the net movement in regulatory deferral account balances that is included within the amounts that are required to be disclosed by paragraph 12(e) of NZ IFRS 12.
- Paragraph 12(g) of NZ IFRS 12 requires an entity to disclose, for each of its subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests that are material to the reporting entity, summarised financial information about the subsidiary, as specified in paragraph B10 of NZ IFRS 12. Similarly, paragraph 21(b)(ii) of NZ IFRS 12 requires an entity to disclose, for each joint venture and associate that is material to the reporting entity, summarised financial information as specified in paragraphs B12–B13 of NZ IFRS 12. Paragraph B16 of NZ IFRS 12 specifies the summary financial information that an entity is required to disclose for all other associates and joint ventures that are not individually material in accordance with paragraph 21(c) of NZ IFRS 12.
- B27 In addition to the information specified in paragraphs 12, 21, B10, B12–B13 and B16 of NZ IFRS 12, an entity that recognises regulatory deferral account balances in accordance with this Standard shall also disclose the total regulatory deferral account debit balance, the total regulatory deferral account credit balance and the net movements in those balances, split between amounts recognised in profit or loss and amounts recognised in other comprehensive income, for each entity for which those NZ IFRS 12 disclosures are required.
- Paragraph 19 of NZ IFRS 12 specifies the information that an entity is required to disclose when the entity recognises a gain or loss on losing control of a subsidiary, calculated in accordance with paragraph 25 of NZ IFRS 10. In addition to the information required by paragraph 19 of NZ IFRS 12, an entity that elects to apply this Standard shall disclose the portion of that gain or loss that is attributable to derecognising regulatory deferral account balances in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost.

Appendix C Effective date and transition

This appendix is an integral part of the Standard.

Effective date and transition

Effective date

An entity shall apply this Standard if its first annual NZ IFRS financial statements are for a period beginning on or after 1 January 2016. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies this Standard in its first annual NZ IFRS financial statements for an earlier period, it shall disclose that fact.

Appendix D Consequential amendments to NZ IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards

The amendments in this appendix shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. If an entity adopts this NZ IFRS for an earlier period, these amendments shall be applied for that earlier period.

The amendments contained in this appendix have been incorporated into the relevant pronouncements.

HISTORY OF AMENDMENTS

Table of Pronouncements – NZ IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

This table lists the pronouncements establishing and substantially amending NZ IFRS 14. The table is based on amendments approved as at 31 December 2015.

Pronouncements	Date approved	Early operative date	Effective date (annual reporting periods on or after)
NZ IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts	March 2014	Early application permitted	1 Jan 2016